ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Pickens County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

SUSAN HENDRICKS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000354

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

AUG 30 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 246 S.E.2d 395 (1991) , where Petitioner pleaded guilty but mentally ill to four murder charges following numerous diagnoses of mental illness including multiple personality disorder, where competency was not established at the time of the alleged out-of-court appeal waiver, and where Petitioner therefore did not knowingly and intelligently wave the right to appellate review of a PCR order of dismissal?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by a Pickens County grand jury on February 21, 2012 on four counts of murder and four counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 176 – 183. On April 26, 2013, she appeared before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin for a guilty plea. App. 1. John Mauldin and Teal Johnson represented Petitioner, and Walt Wilkins served as the solicitor. David Price, Ph.D. testified at the plea regarding Petitioner's competency and mental state. App. 4 l. 22 – App. 22 l. 11. Dr. Price is a licensed clinical and forensic psychologist who had evaluated Petitioner. Id. He indicated that she was not capable of conforming her behavior to the requirements of the law at the time of the murders. App. 9 l. 19 – App. 10 l. 4.

Dr. Price elaborated on that expert conclusion by advising the plea court of the extent of Petitioner's medical history:

Ms. Hendricks has a long standing mental disorder. She's had psychiatric admissions since the late 80's to Marshall Pickens, which is a psychiatric facility. She's had a psychiatric admission to what was then Charter Hospital which is now The Carolina Center for Behavior Health. She's been under psychiatric treatment since the 90's.

The week before this crime ... she was diagnosed in Dr. Sherbondy's office as having bi-polar disorder, an obsessive compulsive disorder, a post-traumatic stress disorder, a generalized anxiety disorder, and a borderline personality disorder. **All of which are very significant mental illnesses.**

App. 10 ll. 5 – 23 (emphasis added). Dr. Price informed the court that Petitioner was abused, sexually and physically, as a child. App. 12 ll. 1 – 23. He outright declared “[t]his is the worst I’ve seen” regarding the sexual abuse. Id. She applied for Social Security disability around 2002 without the assistance of counsel and was successfully granted those benefits. App. 14 l. 7 – App. 15 l. 4. Plea counsel requested that the court take judicial notice “of the high percentage of

cases where people are unrepresented ...85 percent ... are denied.” Id. With no objection from the state, the court took judicial notice. Id.

Petitioner had “significant psychiatric impairment” and “was treated with significant psychiatric drugs ... for over a decade” according to Dr. Price. App. 16 ll. 2 – 16. Social Security evaluations found that Petitioner was “not capable of performing substantial meaningful activity.” Id. The conditions affecting Petitioner are incurable. App. 17 ll. 14 – 21.

Dr. Price diagnosed Petitioner with “a dissociative identity disorder” also known as multiple personality disorder. App. 17 l. 22 – App. 20 l. 19. This likely developed following the sexual abuse, explained Dr. Price:

One thing in common with people that have such a disorder is they all have a history of sexual abuse and physical abuse as a child when their psyche starts to split. And if you would think, when you’re a child and you have limited psychological defenses, it’s an adaptive break because only one personality endures any punishment or suffer abuse, and sometimes it transitions out.

App. 18 ll. 3 – 21. Dr. Price testified that a companion of Petitioner recalled three distinct personalities. App. 19 l. 16 – App. 20 l. 1. This greatly impacted her memory and resulted in Petitioner being seen by a neurologist. App. 20 ll. 2 – 19. The neurologist determined Petitioner’s memory problems were psychogenic and not post-concussive or neurologically based. Id. Although her MRI, CT, and MRA scans were normal, she had dissociative periods where she was unable to retain memories about what she did. Id.

Dr. Price concluded his testimony at the guilty plea by clarifying that Petitioner could not control “when her [personalities] transition out.” App. 20 l. 20 – App. 21 l. 13. He classified her “relatively rare disorder” as “very authentic” after spending over 40 hours with Petitioner. Id. At the time of the plea, he had only seen two people with the multiple personality disorder, with Petitioner being the second one. Dr. Price verified that there was no danger of fraud or

malingering and once again authenticated the diagnosis. Id. On cross-examination, Dr. Price indicated that Petitioner’s “major personality would have known right from wrong at the time of the incident.” App. 22 ll. 1 – 8. However, Petitioner “couldn’t control the personality that would have presented herself.” Id. The plea court commended Dr. Price, acknowledged him for his “outstanding and fine reputation,” and thanked him for his guidance. App. 43 ll. 12 – 15.

The state offered to allow Petitioner to plead guilty but mentally ill to four counts of murder with a negotiated sentence of life for each. App. 23 ll. 9 – 19. In exchange, the state would dismiss the possession of a weapon charges. Id. The state noted that Petitioner could not conform her conduct to the law and should be considered guilty but mentally ill. App. 24 ll. 3 – 5.

The plea judge found that Petitioner was “able to understand the nature of the proceedings extremely well against her and she has also been able to assist her lawyers in preparation of her defense in this case.” App. 27 ll. 8 – 16. As a result, the plea judge found that Petitioner was “competent to stand trial in this case and enter a plea of guilty.” Id. After engaging in a colloquy with Petitioner, the plea judge advised her that she had ten days from the date of the plea to appeal. App. 30 ll. 10 – 14.

The facts as alleged by the state revolved around the deaths of four members of Petitioner’s family: her two sons, her ex-husband, and her stepmother. App. 30 l. 20 – App. 35 l. 10. After Petitioner pleaded guilty, the plea court made multiple findings before accepting her plea:

I find that the State has proved by the preponderance of evidence that the defendant suffers from a mental illness, including but not limited to bi-polar disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, generalized anxiety disorder and borderline personality disorder, that she ... suffers from it today and that she suffered from it at the time of this incident.

... I further find that the defense has proven by preponderance of the evidence, and is not challenged by the State, that the defendant had the capacity to distinguish right from wrong, recognized her acts as being wrong, but because of her mental disease or defect, she was unable to conform her conduct to the requirements of the law.

I further accept her plea of guilty but mentally ill as being freely and voluntarily made with the advice of extremely competent counsel with whom she says is satisfied. And the plea has a substantial factual basis.

App. 35 l. 15 – App. 36 l. 10. Petitioner was sentenced to life on each murder indictment. App. 43 ll. 16 – 22.

Petitioner filed a timely application for post-conviction relief on April 16, 2014. App. 46 – 70. She claimed that her plea attorney did not appeal “because the presiding judge blocked an appeal.” App. 47. She alleged ineffective assistance of counsel and after-discovered evidence. App. 48. The state made its Return on October 10, 2014. App. 71 – 75.

An evidentiary hearing was convened on April 21, 2016 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. App. 76. Jeremy Thompson represented Petitioner, and Patrick Schmeckpeper appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner, counsel Mauldin, and Donna Schwartz-Maddox, M.D. testified at the hearing.¹ At the outset, PCR counsel indicated that Petitioner had vacillated as to whether she wanted to proceed with the hearing. App. 80 l. 10 – App. 81 l. 6.

Dr. Schwartz-Maddox testified that the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (“DSM”) edition changed from the time of Petitioner’s plea to the time of the PCR hearing; the former would have used the DSM-IV-TR, and Dr. Schwartz-Maddox relied on the DSM-V at the latter. App. 87 ll. 5 – 24. Dr. Schwartz-Maddox’s primary diagnosis was “a major neurocognitive disorder secondary to a traumatic brain injury with behavioral disturbance.” *Id.* Dr. Schwartz-Maddox simplified that condition and referred to it as “dementia

¹ Dr. Schwartz-Maddox was qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry by the PCR court. App. 84 ll. 7 – 11.

due to a closed head injury.” Id. She also diagnosed Petitioner with an active illness of post-traumatic stress disorder as well as a few other conditions which affected her memory and mental state. App. 87 l. 25 – App. 88 l. 23; App. 129 – 134.

During the course of PCR counsel’s representation, Dr. Schwartz-Maddox suggested that Petitioner be evaluated by a neuropsychologist. App. 90 l. 23 – App. 92 l. 5. The results found that Petitioner “tested severely impaired in all ranges of her brain functioning” such that the neuropsychologist believed Petitioner may have a brain tumor; even her motor functioning was impaired. Id. According to a CAT scan from 2011, however, there were no tumors. Id. Dr. Schwartz-Maddox explained that the multiple impairments were likely a result of her closed head injury. Id. She testified similar to Dr. Price that Petitioner was guilty but mentally ill. App. 92 ll. 13 – 22.

The PCR judge took the matter under advisement and asked both parties to send him proposed orders within thirty days. App. 127 ll. 4 – 9. There was no mention about a possible appeal. On July 29, 2016, the PCR judge issued an Order of Dismissal. App. 135 – 143. Notably, the section entitled “Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law” relied on various cases from outside South Carolina and the Fourth Circuit.² Petitioner filed a *pro se* “Petition to Appeal and Obtain Indigent Defense to Appeal PCR” but her appeal was dismissed from this Court for failure to timely serve the notice of appeal on counsel for the state. App. 144.

Petitioner filed a second application for post-conviction relief on August 30, 2017. App. 145 – 151. Through this action, she alleged that PCR counsel failed to file a notice of appeal, contrary to her desires. App. 146. Petitioner specifically requested a belated PCR appeal pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991). App. 147. The state filed a

² Forsyth v. Ault, 537 F.3d 887 (8th Cir. 2008); McClain v. Hall, 552 F.3d 1245 (11th Cir. 2008); Stokley v. Ryan, 659 F.3d 802, 806 (9th Cir. 2011).

Return and Motion to Dismiss on or about November 19, 2018. App. 152 – 160. The state alleged that a single letter, in the face of Petitioner’s multiple mental illnesses, constituted a knowing and voluntary waiver of her right to appeal. App. 154 – 158.

A Conditional Order of Dismissal was signed by the Honorable Perry H. Gravely on or about November 26, 2018. App. 161 – 165. It found that Petitioner “voluntarily waived her right to appeal her initial post-conviction relief action.” App. 164. Petitioner filed a Reply and Objection to the Conditional Order of Dismissal on or about January 22, 2019. App. 166 – 167. Petitioner denied knowingly and voluntarily waiving her right to pursue an appeal. Id. The Reply and Objection indicated that Petitioner filed a *pro se* document which was construed as a notice of appeal by this Court thus indicating Petitioner’s desire to appeal. App. 167.

A Final Order of Dismissal was filed on February 12, 2019. App 171. After reviewing only the state’s motion to dismiss, the conditional order of dismissal, and Petitioner’s response, the circuit court concluded that “a sufficient reason has not been shown why the conditional order of dismissal should not become final.” App. 172.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 246 S.E.2d 395 (1991) , where Petitioner pleaded guilty but mentally ill to four murder charges following numerous diagnoses of mental illness including multiple personality disorder, where competency was not established at the time of the alleged out-of-court appeal waiver, and where Petitioner therefore did not knowingly and intelligently wave the right to appellate review of a PCR order of dismissal.

Relevant facts

Susan Hendricks was sentenced to death by incarceration. Ms. Hendricks is mentally ill; that fact is indisputable. In determining that she waived appellate review from the denial of her post-conviction relief application, the PCR court overlooked this crucial and undeniable truth. Similarly, PCR counsel failed to investigate or follow up on Petitioner's competency after receiving a letter from her, a client he knew to have multiple personality disorder. The letter does not, and cannot, constitute a knowing and voluntary waiver, especially considering Petitioner's extensive history of mental illness.

Petitioner blacked out during the incident giving rise to the quadruple homicides. App. 81 l. 17 – 82 l. 6; App. 92 ll. 13 – 22. As noted by Dr. Schwartz-Maddox, Petitioner had been prescribed and was taking Klonopin that night as well; Klonopin can cause an individual to black out. App. 94 ll. 5 – 10. Petitioner confirmed that she had blacked out that evening and also notified the PCR court that she had blacked out previously too. App. 99 l. 19 – App. 100 l. 16. They could last hours, and she would not remember anything that occurred during that time period; she had to be told what transpired. Id.

Unlike at her guilty plea where she had been declared competent, Petitioner was not subject to *any* scrutiny by a circuit court judge or her attorney at the time she drafted the letter to counsel wherein she supposedly waived appellate review. Therefore, she could not have knowingly and voluntarily waived the right to pursue a PCR appeal. She may have understood the proceedings during the guilty plea phase, according to the minimal competency requirements, but she was not questioned *at all* at the time she wrote the letter. Based upon her diagnoses, the uncurable nature of her illnesses, and the fluid complexity of competency, it was an error for the PCR court to determine that she knowingly and voluntarily waived her right to an appeal.

Discussion

In King v. State, this Court set forth the procedure for cases where review is sought pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991):

(1) When the post-conviction relief judge has affirmatively found that the right to appellate review of a previous post-conviction relief order was not knowingly and intelligently waived, the petition shall raise this question along with all other questions petitioner seeks to have reviewed from that order. At the same time this petition is served, petitioner shall serve and file an Austin petition addressing the questions from the previous post-conviction relief order. The Austin petition shall comply with the requirements of Rule 227(d). The Appendix shall contain the entire records from both post-conviction relief proceedings. Respondent's return to the petition shall address the questions from the latest post-conviction relief order, including whether the right to appellate review of the previous post-conviction relief order was knowingly and intelligently waived. At the same time this return is served, respondent shall serve and file an Austin return addressing the questions from the previous post-conviction relief order.

(2) When the post-conviction relief judge has found that the applicant is *not* entitled to an Austin v. State review, the petition shall raise the question of waiver of the right to appellate review of the previous post-conviction relief order along with all other questions petitioner seeks to have reviewed from that order. The petition shall also contain a "Statement of Austin Questions" listing the questions to be raised if an Austin v. State review is granted. An Austin petition addressing the questions will not be allowed unless certiorari is granted on the Austin v. State question.

King v. State, 308 S.C. 348, 349, 417 S.E.2d 868, 868–69 (1992).

“An indigent defendant has the right to be informed of an appeal and the manner and method for taking the appeal.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989); Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395, 396 (1991). In Austin, this Court framed the question as whether the PCR applicant “requested and was denied an opportunity to seek appellate review.” Austin at 454, 409 S.E.2d at 396.

In South Carolina, “[a]ll applicants are entitled to a full and fair opportunity to present claims in one PCR application.” Odom v. State, 337 S.C. 256, 261, 523 S.E.2d 753, 755 (1999). Pursuant to the rules and statutes governing PCR proceedings, an applicant is entitled to a full adjudication on the merits of the original petition. Id. This includes the right to seek appellate review of the denial of PCR and the right to assistance of counsel in that appeal. Id., 337 S.C. at 261, 523 S.E.2d at 755-56. This Court held an individual can appeal a denial of a PCR application after the statute of limitations has expired if the individual either (1) requested and was denied an opportunity to seek appellate review or (2) did not knowingly and intelligently waive the right to appeal. Austin, 305 S.C. at 455, 409 S.E.2d at 396.

Under Austin, the PCR court incorrectly ruled that Petitioner was not entitled to appeal the denial of her post-conviction relief applications because she voluntarily waived her right to appeal. Petitioner has been mentally ill for over a decade and filed a *pro se* appeal. She desires an appeal to the denial of her post-conviction relief application. This Court should grant certiorari and grant Petitioner a belated appeal.

“A waiver is ordinarily an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege. The determination of whether there has been an intelligent waiver ... must depend, in each case, upon the particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, including the

background, experience, and conduct of the accused.” Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464, 58 S.Ct 1019, 1023, 82 L.Ed. 1461, 1466 (1938). A defendant makes an intelligent waiver when he “knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.” Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 279, 63 S.Ct. 236, 242, 87 L.Ed. 268, 275 (1942).

“Mental illness itself is not a unitary concept. It varies in degree. It can vary over time. It interferes with an individual’s functioning at different times in different ways.” Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 175, 128 S.Ct. 2379, 2486, 171 L.Ed.2d 345 (2008).

In 2006, this Court held that a defendant was not mentally competent to waive his right to pursue post-conviction relief. In Hughes v. State, the defendant was convicted of murder, armed robbery, criminal conspiracy, possession of a firearm, and possession of a stolen vehicle and sentenced to death. 367 S.C. 389, 626 S.E.2d 805 (2006). Hughes wrote the Attorney General requesting to waive further proceedings such that he would be executed. Id. at 393, 626 S.E.2d at 807. This Court in response remanded his case for a competency hearing. Id. Much like Petitioner, Hughes vacillated and decided to pursue PCR. Id.

Following Council v. Catoe, 359 S.C. 120, 597 S.E.2d 782 (2004), Hughes’ case was remanded for another hearing on whether he was competent to waive his right to pursue PCR and whether that decision was knowing and voluntary pursuant to Singleton v. State, 313 S.C. 75, 437 S.E.2d 53 (1993). Id. at 395, 626 S.E.2d at 807-8. The circuit court found that Hughes was competent to waive his right to PCR and his decision was knowing and voluntary. Id. This Court disagreed and remanded the case.

In doing so, this Court noted the importance of an in-person examination regarding waiver of appellate or PCR rights:

This procedure is necessary and appropriate because it provides the parties an opportunity to fully explore the issues and develop a record for our review. We

are not bound by the circuit court's findings or rulings, although we recognize the circuit court judge, who saw and heard the witnesses, is in a better position to evaluate their credibility and assign comparative weight to their testimony.

...

In deciding the issue of an appellant's competency, we carefully and thoroughly review the appellant's history of mental competency; the existence and present status of mental illness or disease suffered by the appellant, if any, as shown in the record of previous proceedings and in the competency hearing; the testimony and opinions of mental health experts who have examined the appellant; the findings of the circuit court which conducted a competency hearing; the arguments of counsel; and the appellant's demeanor and personal responses to our questions at oral argument regarding the waiver of appellate and PCR rights.

Hughes at 395-6, 626 S.E.2d at 808-9 (internal citations omitted). Although Hughes was a capital case, the same principles apply here. When an individual diagnosed with multiple personality disorder corresponds with counsel outside the courtroom, any important decisions contained in that communication are subject to scrutiny. It is both unfair and prejudicial to conclude that Petitioner waived her PCR appeal because competency was not established at the time the letter was written. Although not established at the time the letter was drafted, the minimum standard for competency as contained in Singleton, supra, is as follows:

The first prong is the cognitive prong which can be defined as: whether a convicted defendant can understand the nature of the proceedings, what he or she was tried for, the reason for the punishment, or the nature of the punishment. The second prong is the assistance prong which can be defined as: whether the convicted defendant possesses sufficient capacity or ability to rationally communicate with counsel.

Singleton at 83, 437 S.E.2d at 58.

This appeal will not be furthered by debating whether Petitioner was competent at the time she wrote the letter to PCR counsel; doing so would be pure speculation. Instead, the lack of inquiry regarding Petitioner's competency, especially considering her medical history which

was known to PCR counsel and the PCR court, should be the focus. Petitioner did not knowingly and voluntarily waive her right to a PCR appeal.

Similar to Petitioner, the defendant in Hughes alternated between waiving and pursuing PCR multiple times:

Petitioner stated he wished to waive PCR in 2000, then changed his mind and filed a PCR application. He again tried to waive PCR later in 2000, but again changed his mind and decided to pursue PCR in 2001. He expressed his wish for PCR at a hearing in 2002, then changed his mind and indicated a renewed desire to waive it.

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