STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN 16 2020

Certiorari to Pickens County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-000354

SUSAN HENDRICKS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found there was no genuine issue of material fact that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived her right to appeal the denial of her initial application for post-conviction relief because PCR counsel properly advised Petitioner of her right to appeal and the procedures therefore, and Petitioner acknowledged she mailed a letter to PCR counsel clearly and concisely stating she did not want to appeal and informing him he need not contact her again.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived her right to belated appellate review of the denial of her first application for post-conviction relief pursuant to Austin because her mental competency has not been established to show that she had the ability to knowingly and intelligently waive the right, particularly since she has been diagnosed with multiple mental illnesses throughout the proceedings in the courts below. Petitioner's argument fails, as there was no genuine issue of material fact and Respondent was entitled to the summary dismissal of Petitioner's second application for post-conviction relief, because Petitioner's lack of mental competency to stand trial was not shown in her underlying criminal case or her first PCR action, despite the evidence that she suffered from mental illness, PCR counsel adequately informed Petitioner of her right to appeal the denial of post-conviction relief, to which she clearly and unequivocally indicated in writing her desire to forego the appeal, and because Petitioner has failed to show any basis for questioning her competency when she wrote the letter to PCR counsel.

The Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel does not extend to state post-conviction relief actions. Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, (1991). The only recognized exception to the rule barring claims of ineffective assistance of post-conviction relief counsel is found in Austin v. State. 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991). Austin provides for a belated appeal where prior post-conviction relief counsel fails to timely appeal the denial of the

application. Id. at 454, 409 S.E.2d at 396; see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-100 (right to appeal final judgment by post-conviction relief court). But Austin “is limited to its particular factual situation.” Aice, 305 S.C. at 452, 409 S.E.2d at 394.¹ Pursuant to Austin, an evidentiary hearing may be conducted in regards to a successive post-conviction relief application “on the issue of whether in fact the petitioner requested and was denied an opportunity to seek appellate review.” Austin, 305 S.C. at 454, 409 S.E.2d at 396. “If the circuit court finds that the petitioner never in fact sought discretionary review, the petitioner may appeal that finding.” Id. at 455, 409 S.E.2d at 396. Austin, therefore, allows an applicant to petition the Supreme Court of South Carolina for discretionary review of the dismissal of his initial post-conviction relief application through a subsequent PCR action. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-70(c), the Court may summarily dispose of an application if there is no genuine issue of material fact in the “pleadings, depositions and admissions and agreements of fact . . .” and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

A. Petitioner’s PCR counsel mailed a letter to Petitioner that appropriately advised her of her right to appeal the denial of her initial application for post-conviction relief.

Petitioner’s former PCR counsel filed a letter with this Court in which he informed the Court he had mailed a letter to Petitioner on August 23, 2016, in which he notified Petitioner of her right to appeal Judge McMahan’s denial of post-conviction of relief, the date by which a notice of appeal would have to be filed, and the fact that Petitioner would have to complete an (included) affidavit of indigency if Petitioner wished to be represented on appeal by the Office of

¹ Aice was issued in conjunction with Austin, limiting the reach of Austin and holding “that once a PCR applicant obtains a complete adjudication on the merits of his original application, including an appeal, he may not make successive applications based on ineffective assistance of prior PCR counsel.” 305 S.C. at 454 n.1, 409 S.E.2d at 396 n.1.

Appellate Defense. In a letter to this Court dated June 9, 2017, and filed on June 12, 2017, Petitioner acknowledged receiving the letter from Jeremy Thompson. Furthermore, Petitioner included with her letter a copy of the letter she received, which indicated PCR counsel would file a notice of appeal, even if he did not receive an affirmative request from Petitioner that she desire him to do so, unless he received instruction from Petitioner in writing that he not do so. The letter shows that PCR counsel also informed Petitioner of the process of filing a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve issues for appeal, the expected length of the appeals process, and the consequences should Petitioner be successful on appeal, and encouraged her to contact him if Petitioner had any questions or concerns. Thompson's letter to Petitioner undeniably informed her of her right to appeal and the manner for her exercise of that right, and communicated to her all of the information she needed in order to make an informed decision whether or not to appeal. Judge Gravely recognized the letter from PCR counsel to Petitioner properly advised her concerning her right to appeal the denial of relief, and the Court properly concluded there was no genuine issue that Petitioner was aware of her right. App. 172-73.

B. Petitioner's letter to PCR counsel demonstrated that she knowingly and voluntarily waived her right to appeal the denial of post-conviction relief because it explicitly expressed her desire to abandon her appeal and avoid further contact from counsel.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in summarily dismissing the application for post-conviction relief because the letter from Petitioner to PCR counsel, which informed PCR counsel that Petitioner did not want to go any further in appealing the denial of post-conviction relief and that there was no reason for PCR counsel to visit Petitioner, inartfully conveyed Petitioner's intent, which was to pursue an appeal while being represented by a different attorney.

Petitioner's argument fails because the letter clearly and unequivocally indicated Petitioner did not want to seek appellate review of Judge McMahon's denial of relief.

In her letter to PCR counsel, Petitioner wrote that she “[did] not wish to go any further with an appeal There is not any reason to visit me!”² The letter thanked PCR counsel for his help in representing Petitioner and asked him for referral to another who would aid white inmates in the South Carolina Department of Corrections in a lawsuit against the agency for “reverse-racism”. In her reply to the PCR court's conditional dismiss, Petitioner admitted sending the letter to PCR counsel. As Petitioner identified her purpose in writing the letter as notifying PCR counsel that she wished to discontinue her appeal, the letter is clearly responsive to the letter PCR counsel mailed to Petitioner, in which he instructed her that she had to notify him in writing if she did not want him to file a notice of appeal. Petitioner thanked PCR counsel for his help and representing her “in the past”, which demonstrated she desired his representation of her to be at an end. Petitioner's concluding question to PCR counsel about finding counsel for a lawsuit against SCDC demonstrates that her litigious intention was focused elsewhere, not on an appeal from Judge McMahon's denial of post-conviction relief. Petitioner's failure to include any questions about her application for post-conviction relief or an appeal from the denial thereof, though specifically encouraged by PCR counsel in his letter to Petitioner, demonstrates Petitioner understood counsel's explanations about the appeals process. Petitioner's failure to complete the affidavit of indigency and return it to PCR counsel with her responsive letter supported the thrust of the letter that Petitioner was abandoning her pursuit of post-conviction relief rather than seeking other counsel. Likewise, Petitioner's pro se letter to this Court, dated

² Petitioner underlined the individual words in this fashion in her letter.

June 9, 2017, showed that she had an understanding of the appeal procedures and was looking for a new attorney.

The PCR court found Petitioner failed to make a prima facie showing that her instruction to PCR counsel that she did not want to appeal the denial of relief and did not want to be further contacted by him about her application did not evince the intelligent and voluntary nature of her waive of the right to appeal the denial of her first application for post-conviction relief and failed to show that there was a genuine issue of material of fact on the successive application. The PCR court's findings were proper as Petitioner's present allegations did not put forth any credible, genuine, or plausible issues that should allow Petitioner to depart from the clear, unequivocal expression in her letter to PCR counsel of her desire to end her pursuit of post-conviction relief. Judge Gravely was correct in finding the letter left no genuine issue of material fact as to the voluntariness and intelligence in Petitioner's waiver of the right to appeal, as was articulated in Thompson's letter to Petitioner. App. 172.

C. Petitioner has not preserved for appellate review the claim that she was not mentally competent to waive her right to pursue post-conviction relief at the time she wrote the letter to her PCR counsel and, notwithstanding her failure to preserve this issue for appellate review, has failed to show any basis for questioning her competency at the time.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying and dismissing with prejudice the present application for post-conviction relief because the PCR court did not establish Petitioner's mental competency to waive her right to pursue post-conviction relief at the time she wrote the letter to PCR counsel. Petitioner did not claim in her application for post-conviction relief that she lacked the mental competency to waive her right to pursue post-conviction relief. App. 145-51. In her response to the PCR court's conditional dismissal, Petitioner did not claim she lacked

the mental competency to waive her right to pursue post-conviction relief. App. 166-67. Petitioner questions her mental competency at the time she wrote the letter for the first time now before this Court. “A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003).

Notwithstanding this preservation concern, Petitioner wrongly applies the procedure for determining mental competency articulated in Hughes v. State, 367 S.C. 389, 626 S.E.2d 805 (2006), to this matter because Hughes involved a particular scenario easily distinguishable from the case at bar. This Court articulated a rigorous procedure for a competency determination in Hughes because, as Hughes had been sentenced to death, the Court had the grave responsibility of issuing a notice authorizing his execution following the exhaustion of all of his avenues of relief in state and federal court or his knowing and voluntary waiver of those avenues of relief. Id. at 395, 626 S.E.2d at 808 (citations omitted). The Court explicitly described the procedure as one to be followed “[w]hen considering a request by an appellant who has been sentenced to death to waive the right to appeal or pursue PCR, and to be executed forthwith” Id. This Court should not require the PCR court to evaluate Petitioner’s mental competency in line with Hughes as that standard is not required in this case since Petitioner has not been sentenced to death.

Petitioner has failed to show there is any basis for doubting her mental competency at the time she wrote the letter. In order for a defendant to be competent to stand trial, he must have “sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of relational understanding” and must have a “rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him.” Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960) (per curiam) (internal quotations

omitted); Ramirez v. State, 413 S.C. 351, 366, 776 S.E.2d 101, 110 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015) (citing Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 417 S.E.2d 594 (1992)), rev'd on other grounds, Ramirez v. State, 419 S.C. 14, 22, 795 S.E.2d 841, 845 (2017). A defense attorney may reasonably rely upon his own perceptions in determining whether a mental competency evaluation is required. Jeter, at 233, 417 S.E.2d at 596. Petitioner's explanation for the letter to PCR counsel is that she failed to convey her real intention to appeal Judge McMahon's denial of relief due to poor word choices. App. 166. Petitioner's explanation for her failure to take any indication to either file a notice of appeal or express to PCR counsel her desire to appeal the denial is that she attempted but failed to secure other private PCR counsel. App. 166-67. Petitioner's explanations leave no room for her now to cast doubt upon her mental competency following Judge McMahon's denial of relief because they indicate she was behaving competently and rationally. Although Petitioner did state in her reply to the PCR court's conditional dismissal that she suffered from mental illness, she did not allege that her mental illness caused her to send a letter to PCR counsel stating her intention to forego an appeal, indicating Petitioner did not see a causal connection between her mental state and her instructions to PCR counsel at the time of the PCR court's summary dismissal of this successive application for post-conviction relief. Furthermore, Petitioner's argument now that "[i]t is impossible to know [Petitioner's] frame of mind or which personality wrote the letter [to PCR counsel informing him that she did not want to appeal]", which, if true, forecloses Petitioner's ability to argue Petitioner's mental illness deprived her of the requisite competency to knowingly and voluntarily waive her right to appeal Judge McMahon's denial of relief. This Court should not allow Petitioner to assert for the first time on appeal that she lacked the mental competency to waive her right to appeal, particularly when she would require the

PCR court to follow a competency determination procedure not required in this case, and has given no reason to doubt her competency when she wrote the letter to PCR counsel.